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THE STATE OF TEXAS, 
Plaloda 

§ 
§ 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF 

v. 
I 
§ 

CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, 
IndlvtduaUy and d/b/a CLARA'S 
MULTI SERVICIOS 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

POTTER COUNTY, TEXAS 

Defendant ___ JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

PLAINTIFF'S ORIGINAL PETITION 
FOR CIVa PENALTIES AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT: 

COMES NOW, the STATE OF TEXAS, ("STATEn), Plaintiff, acting by and through its 

Attorney General GREG ABBOTT and his Consumer Protection and Public Health Division and 

files this Original Petition, on behalf of the State of Texas, and on behalf of the interest of the general 

public of the State of Texas, and complains of CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, Individually and 

d/b/a CLARA'S MUL T1 SER YICIOS, ("DEFENDANT") and for cause ofaction would respectfully 

show the Court as fo llows: 

I. SUMMARY OF THE CASE 

1.1 Clara 1sela Hernandez owns and operates an immigration services business in 

Amarillo, Potter County, Texas. She operates her business under the name of "Clara's Multi 

Servicios", however her business is not incorporated. She holds herself out as a "Public Notary" as 

well as providing "Income Tax and Immigration Services." Although she is a Texas licensed notary 

public, neither Hernandez nor her business are recognized by the Bureau of Immigration Appeals 
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(BIA) to legally consult with consumers about immigration and nationality law and she is not 

licensed to practice law in the State ofTexu. Hernandez solicited customm by representing that 

she hu the skill or knowledge necessary to handle immigration cases or problems. She also 

advertised in the Amarillo YeHow Pages under "Immigration Services" u providing services for 

"Paperwork on all Immigration matters," "Pennanent Residency," "Citizenship," "Family & 

Employment visas," "Work Permits," and "Travel permits." Further, Hernandez charged her 

customers a fee for her immigration services. Federal law only authorizes attorneys and penons 

accredited with the BIA to charge a fee and provide immigration services to the public. Because she 

is not an attorney authorized to practice law nor accredited by the BlA, and because of such false, 

misleading and deceptive business activities, Hernandez is charged in this suit with violations of the 

Texas Deceptive Practices - Consumer Protection Act. By this suit the State seeks a Court ordered 

injunction to prevent the Defendant from engaging further in such false, misleading and deceptive 

business practices and also seeks appropriate civil penalties, attorney's fees and costs. 

II. PARTY PLAINTIFF 

2.1 The Plaintiff in this suit is the STATE OF TEXAS appearing by and through its 

Attorney General, Greg Abbott, and under the authority of the Constitution, statutes, and laws of the 

State of Texas. 

Ill. PARTY DEFENDANT 

3.1 The Defendant CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, Individually, does business as, is a 

principal and owner, and controlling person of CLARA'S MULTI SERVIClOS. Defendant 

CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, Individually and d/b/a CLARA'S MULTI SERVICIOS, may 

be served with process at her place of business at 1103 S. Grand Street, AmarUlo, Potter 
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County, Tex .. 79104 or at her residence at 4103 SE 10" Avenue, Amarillo, Potter County, 

Texu 79104, or whetever she may be found. 

IV. DISCOVERY CONTROL PLAN 

4.1 Discovery in this suit is intended to be conducted under Discovery Level 2 pursuant 

to TEX. R. ClV. P. 190.1 and 190.3. 

V. AUTHORITY AND JURISDICTION 

5.1 This action is brought by Attorney General GREG ABBOTT, acting within the scope 

of his official duties under the authority granted to him under the Constitution and the laws of the 

State of Texas, through his Consumer Protection & Public Health Division, in the name of the 

STATE OF TEXAS and in the public interest against defendant for violations of the Texas 

Deceptive Trade Practices - Consumer Protection Act, TEX. Bus. & COM. CODE ANN. § 17.41, et 

seq. (hereinafter "DTPA") , and the State Bar Act, TEX. Gov. CODE ANN. § 8l.001, et seq. (herein 

"SBA"). The DTPA § 17.47 grants authority to the Attorney General to seek injunctive relief and 

civil penalties for violations ofits provisions upon the grounds that Defendant has engaged in false, 

misleading or deceptive acts or practices in the course of trade and commerce as defined in, and 

declared unlawful by §§ 17.46(a) and (b) of the DTPA. This Court has jurisdiction over this action 

pursuant to § 17.47(b) of the DTPA. 

VI. VENUE 

6.1 Venue is proper in Potter County pursuant to TEX. CIV. Puc. & REM. CODE § 

15 .002(a)( 1) and (3) because the Defendant's principal place of business is located in Potter County 

and because all or a substantial part ofevents or omissions giving rise to this claim occurred in Potter 

County. 
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6.2 Venue is proper in Potter county pW'Suant to Sections 17.47(b) and 17.S6[B] of the 

DTP A because the transactions in question took place in Potter County. 

YD. TRADE AND COMMERCE 

7.1 Defendant is engaged in ''trade'' and "commerce" as defined by Section 17.45(6) of 

the DTP A as she operates an immigration services business in the State of Texas. "Trade" and 

"Commerce" means the advertising, offering for sale, sale, lease, or distribution of any good or 

service, of any property, tangible or intangible. real, personal or mixed, and any other article, 

commodity, or thing of value, wherever situated, and includes any trade or commerce directly 

affecting the people of this State. TBx. Bus. & COM CODB § 17.45(6). 

VIll. PUBLIC INTEREST 

8.1 The State has reason to believe that the Defendant has engaged in, is engaging in and 

will continue to engage in the unlawful practices set forth herein, that Defendant has by means of 

these unlawful acts and practices, caused damage to and/or acquired money or property from 

persons, and that Defendant caused and will cause adverse effects to legitimate business enterprises 

which lawfully conduct trade and commerce in this State, thereby directly or indirectly affecting the 

people of this State. Therefore, pursuant to § 17.47(a) of the DTPA. the Consumer Protection and 

Public Health Division of the Attorney General of the State of Texas believe!!, and is of the opinion 

that these proceedings are in the public interest. 

IX. PURPOSE OF SUIT 

9.1 The purpose of this suit is to secure temporary and permanent injunctions. to secure 

appropriate restitution for consumers, and to collect civil penalties from Defendant because 

Defendant has advertised and offered and provided services in violation of Texas law including the 
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DTPA. 

9.2 The State has reason to believe that the Defendant is engaging in, bas engaged in. or 

is about to engage in acta or practices declared to be unlawful pursuant to § 17.47(a) of the DTPA, 

and because these proceedings are in the public interest, the State is seeking a temporary injunction 

and a penn anent injunction to enjoin Defendant from engaging in further business activities utilizing 

any false, misleading or deceptive advertising or engaging in unauthorized business activities. I If 

the Defendant is not enj oined, Defendant will continue to engage in the unauthorized practice oflaw 

and thereby cause immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage to persons who receive their 

services. Namely, the provision of legal services and/or advice by Defendant, a non-attorney, will 

have dire legal consequence and prejudice the legal rights of persons seeking benefits under U.S. 

immigration laws. Specifically, Defendant will continue to solicit customers each day and will 

continue to give legal services and/or advice to her customers when she is not licensed to practice 

law in the State of Texas or accredited by the Board of Immigration Appeals to represent individuals 

in immigration matters or in proceedings before the immigration courts. Defendant's customers will 

lose immigration benefits to which they are otherwise entitled and subject them to apprehension, 

detention or immediate deportation, or expose them to criminal liability as a result of Defendant's 

Wbla thl Stale SlCkI laJlIIH:live reUefpllmWlllo aDlllthOriz.ed atafllie [C-I . DTPA, 11.47(1)], th, Texu Supreme Caurt bu 
hcld thlllhi Stal, dDCII 001 haVI 10 PnlVI hnmedllie IUId irropnble iDjllIY. Nor dDCI thl Cawt havllD balance eqllitica wbo thl Slal,litiSIIOIla 
lit, pllbllc'l ialarat. Wben Illafllte I. beta I violated, it" withlD thl prDviac:a IUId dilly afthe aial court 10 realnla iL S,,,,. y. TutU P., Faatb, 591 
SW2d 800 (Tell. 1979). '1111 Slall bu I rclalled blildeo beelllM il "1110 the public iaUll'ea\. WheD the Slall briDI' aD "tioa 10 the pvbllc iDlcrat 
IUd DO bebalf of caa.umcn, harm II PIClUlDed. Unl'td S,,,,., Y. Od&U" Union WllrrJro", .. 833 F2d 112 (9'" Cir. 1981). SIt",., Y. Un"" Sla,u, 229 
F2d 124 (4'" CIr) Cen. DtIII. 1" US 931 (19'6). -fblllaMe'. OlqllCllllDl"Ill .upcn:edca the caDIIDOIlllw iDjunclive roUer demcalllUcb u 
immiaeal barm or ilTepnble iajury aDd 1ac:1t of aD adequlte mncciy II law ... ('1111 SlaleJ Deed 001)' demoDIUIIC 10 the cour1111 reuoa 10 belilve 
\hit (I) 11.0)' penoa i. emS'siDI ill. bu CDPled Ia. or I, Iballilo CDIIS' in aD)' Icl 01 practice dec:land ID blllIDllwful b)' the DTP A., aDd (2) Ibilibo 
pr~eediDI' woliid be iD the public iDlereat. W." Y. Sla'" 212 SW3d S 13 (T1II.App.- AIIIIIII, 2006, DO pc\.). Tblnatll.llkewlll DOt required to pnlVO 
the Iikelibaod of future VIOlariDDI oar il required 10 .bow probable iaJwy. lbid "IS/S. IDjllDctiv. rollofllll)' b. &RDIIIII 10 tho 51.110 upoa • ,baMDI 
DfoDI)' I viallrioa or. Il.IfIIlo. GII/fHoldln, Corp. Y. Brazoria COllnl)/, 491 S.W.2d 61411619 (TIll. Cly. APlI.- Ha\lltoa [l4"J 1973, writ rtf'd 
D.r.c.)_ 
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unqualified lepl services and/or advice in immigration matters. 

X. DEFENDANT PREVIOUSLY INFORMED OF WRONGDOING 

10.1 As provided for in § 17.47(a) of the DTPA, the State, at least seven days prior to 

instituting this suit, contacted Defendant in writing to infonn her in general of the alleged unlawful 

conduct, subject of this suit. Said statute does not require the State to notify such Defendant that 

court action is or may be under consideration. 

Xl. ACTS OF AGENTS 

11.1 Whenever in this petition it is alleged that Defendant did any act or thing. it is meant 

that Defendant performed or participated in such act or thing or that such act was perfonned by the 

officers, agents, or employees of Defendant, and in each instance, the officers, agents, or employees 

of Defendant that were then authorized to and did in fact act on behalf of Defendant or otherwise 

acted under the guidance and direction of the Defendant. 

11.2 Defendant CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, Individually, does business as, is the 

principal and owner of, CLARA'S MULTI SERVICIOS. As such, Defendant CLARA ISELA 

HERNANDEZ is a controlling person, who directs and has personal knowledge of the day-to-day 

activities of the business, and has the responsibility of supervising any employees of the business, 

the responsibility for the overall management and oversight of the business, including compliance 

with all state statutes regulating all trade and commerce practices, the practice oflaw, the provision 

of inunigration legal services, and, including but not limited to, compliance with the DTPA.1 

1 Dapilll lbe facl thll Ocfendaul dou bulincil U IDd openlCl ber bUlio ... II I 101. praprietonhlp, UIIS that th. buliD.1 i. 
Dot ID entity fOnDed under the Tellu BUline .. OrBlDlurionl Coda or thll of any other ,lale, il II nOleworthy thll Tau law II wIn tenled thl! 
CorporslC 'Icall may be beld pcr100ally TCIJIOOllblc IDd individually liabl. WIder the DTPA for WTonlNlacli. L'KIU \I. WllIGfI, 663 S.W.2d III 
(Tex. 1913). It il Dol oecCilary 10 plen:othe CD'l'Drslc yetI in oreler 10 Impal. pmoaalllabillty. lAye"d.eu, v. Wee/"". 683 S. W.2d 369 (Tea. 
1984). Ulbillty of lucb I cO'l'orlle officer i. bued 00 bia 0W1I IclloDi nOI bil IWrua .. au 181:111. II il not OCC .. lary for lIIeb au employee 10 lei 
kaowin&IY or iallllllloaally iD ordcrlo be pcraoaaUy liable. Mill., y. K".u. 90 S.W.ld 712 (Tax. 2002). fllrtbermOR, aclloaable DTPA violation. 
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XlI. PARTICULAR APPLICABLE LAW 

12.1 The Deceptive Trade Practices Act provides that false, misleading, or deceptive acts 

or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are unlawful and subject to action by the 

Consumer Protection Division. TBX. Bus. '" COM. CODa ANN. § 17.46(a). False, misleading, or 

deceptive acts or practices are further defined, in part, to include: 

(2) causing confusion or misunderstanding as to the source, sponsorship, 

approval, or certification of goods or services; 

(3) causing confusion or misunderstanding as to affiliation, connection, or 

association with, or certification by, another; 

(5) representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not 

have; 

(7) representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality or 

grade, if they are of another; 

(24) failing to disclose infonnation concerning goods or services which was 

known at the time of the transaction, to induce the consumer into a 

transaction into which the consumer would not have entered had the 

information been disclosed. 

may include both CIlmDt milRJlfCScar.riODi U Mil U I faillUe 10 perform 1 f\l1Unt pRlmlac. Farmola Plantu II. Pruldlo. 960 S. W.2d 41 (Tex. 
I ~96) . DTPA § 17.46(c)(l) luthori .. ITellu courta 10 be lIIided, io actloD' bRlught by the Anomey 0_1', CODIUIIIef i'nllectiDD Divilion. 10 
the UleDt pOlilble. by the interprer.tioDI &iveo by lbe Federal Trlde CommiliiOlllDd fedenl court I 10 the Pederal Trlde CommiliioD Acl (I S 
U.S.C.A. , 45(1)( I)}. Fedenol courta blve oileD beld prillcipall Dr ~aotroUiol penolll of cDrpDratioul iDdividually liable IIDder the FTCA for Ibe 
WltIDaful aad daceplive l~tiDnl of tho bllallella they cDDlrol 00 th' baail lblt they Ibould hlw bad la10wledle Dr __ _ of lbo 
miIRPn:ICDlltioOl. SI. FTC v .flll)' n-avel, 875 P.2d 564 (7" Cu. 1918). aad FTC v Publi.Jiti"I CI,ari". Houu, 104 F 3d 1161 (9- Cir. 1997). 
lod F7t: Y. Am,rica" Slalldard. 874 F.Supp. 1010 (C 0 C.1. 1994). aod FTC v. Plo"", £""'1' .. 1992 WL 372350 (tl . Nev. 1992). 
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TEx. Bus. &COM. CODB ANN. § 17.46(b). 

12.2 The DTP A provides that it "shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its 

underlying purposes, which are to protect consumers against false, misleading and deceptive 

practices, unconscionable actions, and breaches of warranty and to provide efficient and economical 

procedures to secure such protection". TEX. Bus. & COM. Coos CODB § 17.44 (a). 

12.3 The DTPA establishes civil penalties of up to $20,000 a day for deceptive practices. 

TEX. Bus. &COM. CODE § 17.47(c)(1). 

12.4 The State is exempt from filing a bond. TEX. CIV. Puc. & REM. CODE § 6.001 and 

TEX. Bus. & COM. CODE § 17.4 7(b). 

12.5 Federal law provides that aliens may hire either a licensed attorney, an appropriately 

supervised law student or a person accredited by the Board of Immigration Appeals (BIA), who may 

charge or accept a fee for representing them in immigration proceedings. 8 C.F.R.§ 292.] Engaging 

in such business without a license as an attorney or accreditation by the BIA is a violation of the 

Accredited Reprelllltathn. AD accrediled repre.eutatlve ia a penoa wbo la approved by the BOlI'd oflaunipatloa Appula 
10 reprOlDallliCIII berolll the Baird, the lnuni&nllloa Caurll. IUd Ihe OeputmaDl of HomellDd Security. He or Ibe mUll bl I plll'loa of aaad mar.! 
eblnlctc wba wom for a 'PacIfic oaDprafil relillau •• cbarillble •• aeial Mn'ice, or limilar orslDlzatioa wblcb bu baeu l'CCoplir.ed by the Baud Ia 
IIIPrtlICIII.Ueul. Ac:credltatloa il vllid for I periad ofllp 10 IhIIIe yean md CID be reaewed. See 8 C.P.R. It 1292.1(1)(4), 1292.2(d). Accrailled 
ulpreaCIIlative. mUll file a Nodce Dr Hairy of AppCllUlCC II Attoral:)' 01 RepmcalllllVi Befen the Imml.,-tioD CDIIlt (porm HOIK.21) io OId.-lo 
repreaCIIl1D iDdividual beforelhllmml.,-tioa Court. See Chaplet 2.1C (AppoarucOl). AccRdilid repraCOlatlYCI.bould be carefulla Ule thl mall 
currenl vertloa Df the Pal'Dl HOIR·28, wblcb i. available DO \he Bxecutivi Ofllc. far IDImI.,-tiOD Review web.ile II www.uadDj .lov/coir. (.) 
Qu.IIfyI"1 G ..... ~I111"" .. - The Board of Immipatioa Appalll otllclllly rlCopli2a cataID DDDpmfil rtlHslOIII, cbaritable, focial lervlce. and 
limilar arpaizatioDi II 1111I.erviee providcn. SII8 C.P.1l t 1292.2(1), Chapter 2.2(b) (Lelal Servici Providcn). To be recOfpliJzd by thl Boant. 
ID arlwzatiDD mull Ifllnnltively Ipply for \hal rlCofplitiDD. Sw:b ID organizatioD mUll Cllllbli.h ID Ihe salllfactlDa Df the BDlI'd \hal III reClInI 
only DOllliDII. Ihll II dDCI 001 u .... !:lIc ... Iv. IIIcmberahlp dUll for plll'lDDl Bivc:a ... illaaee, IDd lhal il hu II ill dillpolilidequa\c aowled,l, 
\ofannllioD, IDd expcrieoce la IDUIIIJPlIIiDo 11101 and pracedw.. The qualificatiDD' and procedurn for orpaizaliD1l',cckiDI Board recosaitioa InI 
lei forlb ill lbe reIVlltioDL I C.P .1l t 1292.2(1), (b). QUClliDDI re .... dlal rlCoplitioa lilly be dlRcled 10 Ihe i!.Accutive OffiCI fDr lmmi&nltlDD 
Rn lew, Otlle!: of the OeoCIIII CDIID.el. See Appeodill B (HOIK Direclory) (6) rllUlllht". rqra.",IIII.,.. - Thl Board of Imml.,-liaa Appelll 
aceredita pmoD. of ,ood mar.! cblll/Cler .. repre.eutativCII of qu.lifYios oflllDizatiDD'. See I C.F .R.11292.2(d). Repre.c:atalivCII aflhl recDfpllzad 
Oflll1izatiDOI UI DOllulomltically accrediled by the Board. Ralher, the racDlDized arllDlzatioD 1IIU1llffirmalivlly apply far accnditalioa OIl nc;b 
~rClCIIlltiye" behllf. SCI I C.F.1l , 1292.2(d). No iadiYidual m.y Ipply 00 bi. or bar DWl! bebalf. AccreditatiOD i. oollnDlf.".bll fItIm ooe 
~n:leolltive 10 lDolher. and DO iadiYidual retalDI .ccn=ditalioo upoa bl. or bClf ,cpIII/lioa from the recDfpllzcd ors.malioo. SectiDD 2.4 Accredlled 
ReprelClltaliv.,/mmifl'lllian Caliri PrlJctiCi MIJ""al. www.lUdo/pvl.o/,.. 
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12.6 The Texas Notary Public Act provides that a penon commits an offense iftbe penon 

is a notary public and implies that they are a licensed attorney or solicits or accepts compensation 

to prepare legal documents for another person for immigration proceedings or any other legal relief 

from any agency of the State of Texas or the United States. TEX. Gov. CODE § 406.017(a)(1) and 

(2V Failure to comply with this requirement is a violation of the DTPA. 

12.7 The State Bar of Texas Act provides that a person may not engage in the practice of 

law in the State of Texas unless that person is a member of the State Bar of Texas as a licensed 

attorney. TEX. Gov. CODE § 81.102. See Unauthorized Practice Comminee v. Cortez, 692 S.W.2d 

47 (Tex. 1985), Failure to comply with this requirement is a violation of the DTPA. 

12.8 The "practice oflaw" means the preparation of a pleading or other document incident 

to an action or special proceeding-or the management of the action or proceeding on bebalf of a 

client before a judge or judicial officer in a court or administrative tribunal 8S well as a service 

rendered out of court, including the giving ofadvice or the rendering of any service requiring the use 

of legal skill or knowledge, such as preparing a will, contract, or other instrument, the legal effect 

of which under the facts and conclusions involved must be carefully determined. See TEX. Gov. 

CODE § 81.101(a). 

4 Other IctioDable rcmedill Dr mforccmoDI IcdDDS IDd 011'1. rcmedh:llII'o cwnulativc IIDd Dol mUlllllly Cllclutive. Srrtirll Y. 

Baldwi". 611 S . W.ld 61 I (Tea. 1910). lb, 011'A IIXprellly provlda "A.,a ICI or practice thll tl I violalioD of I provisioD ofl.w ather rblD thll 
Iubcbaprcr mlY b, mlde the bub oflD actioD under !hillUbcblplerifthe 111:1 or pRctice i. prolcribed by. provision oHbe IIIIbcbapler or il declan:d 
uDllwful by I1Icb 0111111' IIWIO be IclloDlblo UDder thillllbchipler" . DTPA t 11.43. 

Nate thai ID otfeaal UDder thll Section I, I Clul A mlldcmeanor Or III offense under thil lcetiOD il I feloDY of the thInS 
degree, ifir illboW1l aD the mal of tho olfeaae th., the defcadlDl baa previoUily beea cODvicled UDder !hillectioD. FlillII'c 10 comply wilb thil lectiOD 
ii, 10 addilioD 10 I ~iolatiOD of lOy othn Ippliclble 11'01 of thie llall, IUcb II I deceptive Inde practice actionable IlDder Chlpter 17, BUliDe .. .­
Commerce Cude. By Ibil civil !ull the Anomey GeDerai11 001 !eeldDI aimlaaJ prolecutioD of the Def=claat 
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xnl. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

13.1 Defendant CLARA ISELA HERNANDBZ, Individually. operates a storefront notary 

public and immigration service business in the State ofTexu doing business as an individual sole 

proprietorship under the usumed name of CLARA 's MULTI SERVICIOS with a business address 

ofll03 S. Grand Street, Amarillo, Potter County, Texas 79104. 

13.2 On or before at least August of 2010 through the present, Defendant publicly 

advertised her said notary public and immigration services provider business and engaged in the 

provision of such business services at her business address. Defendant advertises such business 

services on the storefront of her business address and additionally advertises such business services 

through local publications, such as the Amarillo Yellow Pages, and through her business cards. 

13.3 Among other things, the Defendant provides counseling regarding U.S. immigration 

laws and procedures, for a fee. Defendant targets and solicits persons attempting to immigrate 

andlor obtain residency in the U.S. as well as the friends and family members of such persons. 

13.4 Defendant represents to consumers that she is qualified to prepare all of the 

applications, fonns and other pertinent documentation as required by the immigration laws of this 

country. However, Defendant fails to infonn consumers that she is not authorized or qualified to 

provide such services. The immigration services rendered by Defendant for her customers include 

the following activities: 

A. Interviewing customers to detennine eligibility for immigration benefits under U.S. 

immigration laws; 

B. Advising customers as to whether or not to file a petition or application under u.s. 

immigration laws to secure an immigration benefit for the customer or a relative of the 

St.te', Orl&luII PetiUn for Civil Peulltln IDd JuJuDctin Relief 
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customer; 

C. Selecting and preparing a petition or application, and other forms, on behalf of 

customers, including, but not limited to, form G-325 A (Biographic Infonnation), fann 1-130 

(Petition for Alien Relative), form 1-4~S (Application to Register Permanent Residence or 

Adjust Status), form 1-765 (Application for Employment Authorization), form 1-797C 

(Notice of Action), and form 1-864 (Affidavit of Support); 

D. Filing the documents with the Bureau of Immigration. 

13.5 To represent consumers on Immigration matters legally, one must be a licensed 

attorney, an appropriately supervised law student, or a person accredited by the Board oflmmigration 

Appeals. 8 C.F .R. § 292. Defendant is not an attorney or law student and is not accredited by the 

Board of Immigration Appeals to represent persons in a proceeding relating to immigration to the 

U.S., or obtaining citizenship or other related matter. Defendant does not appear on the Board of 

Immigration Appeals (BIA) Roster of Recognized Organizations and Accredited Representatives at 

www.justice.gov.eoir/pressl08/AcreditationFactSheetl02708.pdf. Defendant is also not qualified 

under 8 C.F.R. § 292 to represent consumers because she receives remuneration from consumers on 

immigration matters while having no pre-existing relationship or connection with such persons 

entitled to the representation. Defendant has failed to obtain pennission from The Board of 

Immigration Appeals to act as the representative of said consumers. 

13 .6 Defendant provides legal advice and prepares visa applications and other legal 

documentation for consumers, for a fee. The Defendant does not, and has not possessed the 

certification, registration, license, or other qualifications necessary to perfonn such services. 

13.7 Defendant is not licensed by the State Bar of Texas to practice as an attorney in the 
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State of Texu, Dor baa she at all relevant times worked under the direct daily supervision of a 

licensed attorney. 

13.8. Defendant's failure to disclose her lack ofauthority and accreditation is intended to 

induce consumers into transactions which they would not have entered if the infonnation had been 

disclosed to them. 

13.9 Defendant advertises these services, but does not include a notice that she is not an 

attorney in the advertisements. Defendant also fails to include the amount of fees required for each 

service. 

13.10 In support of these allegations of fact, the State relies upon the investigators affidavit 

attached hereto as Exhibit • A'. and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

XIV. VIOLATIONS OF THE DTPA 

14.1 Based on the conduct alleged above, Defendant has directly and indirectly engaged 

in false, misleading, and deceptive acts and practices declared unlawful by § 17.46(a), (b) and § 

17.08 of the DTPA, including, but not limited to: 

A. causing confusion or misunderstanding as to the source, sponsorship, approval, or 

certification of goods or services by stating or implying falsely that Defendant is; 

1. an attorney licensed to practice law in this State or that Defendant has an 

attorney on staff to assist her with immigration related matters in violation of 

DTPA § 17.46(b)(2); 

2. able to otherwise comply with the requisites of8 C.F.R. § 292 by functioning 

as a properly supervised law student, or by accreditation by the U.S. Board 

of Immigration Appeals in violation of DTPA § 17 .46(b )(2); 
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B. causing confusion or misunderstanding as to affiliation, connection, or association 

with, or certification by, another, by Defendant; 

1. advertising. offering for sale, seUins, or providing an immigration service in 

violation ofDTPA § 17.46(b)(3); 

2. accepting money or valuable consideration for performing an immigration 

service in violation of DTP A § 17 .46(b )(3); 

3. accepting money or valuable consideration from any person seeking 

assistance to obtain a benefit under U.S. immigration laws for himself or any 

other person in violation ofDTPA § 17.46(b)(3); 

4. advising any person whether or not to file a petition, application, or other 

fonn to obtain a benefit under U. S. immigration laws for himself or any other 

person in violation of DTPA § 17.46(b)(3); 

5. preparing for any person a petition, application or other fonn to obtain a 

benefit under U.S. immigration laws for himself or any other person in 

violationofDTPA § 17.46(b)(3); 

C. representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, 

ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not have by; 

1. representing, directly or by implication, that Defendant can obtain legal 

status, a work pennit, or other benefit under U.S. immigration laws for a 

person who purchases her services in violation ofDTPA § 17.46(b)(5); 

2. representing to any person, expressly or by implication, that Defendant can 

or will represent the interest of another in a judicial or administrative 
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proceeding, including a proceeding relating to immigration to the United 

States, U.S. citizenship, or any other Immigration related matter (including 

alien temporary or permanent employment or travel) in violation ofDTP A § 

17.46(b)(.5); 

D. representing that goods or services are ofa particular standard, quality or grade, if 

they are of another, by Defendant; 

1. holding themselves out, by advertising or by any means, to the public as an 

"immigration specialist," "immigration counselor," "immigration services 

provider" or "immigration consultant" or by any title or designation 

incorporating the word "immigration" or an abbreviation thercofin violation 

of DTP A § 17 .46(b )(7); 

2. representing, directly or by implication, that Defendant has the skill, 

expertise, or competence to handle immigration matters in violation ofDTP A 

§ 17.46(b)(7); 

E. failing to disclose information concerning goods or services which was known at the 

time of the transaction, to induce the consumer into a transaction into which the 

consumer would not have entered had the information been disclosed, by Defendant; 

1. providing or giving persons advice and counsel regarding their rights under 

the immigration laws of the United States or any other sort of legal matter 

while falsely purporting to be qualified to do so in violation of DTPA § 

17.46(b)(24); 

2. soliciting, collecting, or accepting fees or compensation of any type, for 
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providing any type of immigration or legal services to COlllumers while 

falsely purporting to be qualified to do so in violation of DTP A § 

17.46(b)(24)j 

3. representing. expressly or by implication, that Defendant is able to provide 

or obtain undetectable counterfeit documents for persolll wishing to 

immigrate to the U.S. which will aid such person to gain employment, 

residency, citizenship, or other benefit in violation ofDTPA § 17.46(b)(24); 

14.2. Based on the conduct alleged above, Defendant has additionally directly and 

indirectly engaged in false, misleading, and deceptive acts and practices declared unlawful by DTP A 

§ 17.46(a), by representing or implying that as a notary public that she is a licensed attorney and 

solicits or accepts compensation to prepare legal documents for another person for immigration 

proceedings or any other legal relief from any agency of the State of Texas or the United States in 

violation of TEX. Gov. CODE § 406.0l7(a). 

14.3 Based on the conduct alleged above, Defendant has additionally directly engaged in 

false, misleading. and deceptive acts and practices declared unlawful by DTPA § l7.46(a), by 

engaging in the practice of law in the State of Texas while not a member of the State Bar of Texas 

as a licensed attorney in viola.tion of TEX. Gov. CODE § 81.102. 

XV. INJURY TO CONSUMERS 

15.1 By means of the foregoing false, misleading, and deceptive acts and practices, in 

violation of Texas law, Defendant has acquired money or other property from identifiable persons 

to whom such money or property should be restored, or who in the alternative are entitled to an 

award of dama.ges. 
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XVI. DISGORGEMENT 

16.1 All of the Defendant's assets arc subject to the equitable remedy of disgorgement, 

which is the forced relinquishment of all benefits that would be unjust for Defendant to retain, 

including all ill-gotten gains and benefits or profits that result from Defendant putting fraudulently 

converted property to a profitable use. Defendant should be ordered to disgorge all monies 

fraudulently taken from individuals and businesses together with all of the proceeds, profits, income, 

interest and accessions thereto. Such disgorgement should be for the benefit of victimized consumers 

and the State of Texas. 

xvn. REPATRIATION OF ASSETS 

17.1 After due notice and a hearing, the Court should order that all of the Defendant's 

assets situated outside the jurisdiction of this Court be deposited or repatriated into an appropriate 

financial institution within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

XVIII. REQUEST FOR FINDINGS OF ACTUAL FRAUD 
AND FALSE REPRESENTATION 

18.1 The Court should make rmdings at the conclusion of this case that the Defendant 

engaged in actual fraud and false representations in that Defendant has made repeated and materially 

false representations to the public concerning the issues of immigration and the ability of Defendant 

to represent andlor assist consumers in immigration documentation and proceedings, which was 

known to be false when made. Such false representations were made with the intention that they be 

acted upon by the parties to whom the misrepresentations were made. Reliance upon these false 

representations has resulted in injury to mUltiple consumers across the United States as well as in 

the State of Texas, and violates laws enacted by the State of Texas to protect the legal profession and 
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citizens from non-licensed individuals practicing law. 

IXX. INJUNCTIVE RELIEJi' NECESSARY 

19.1 The State's application for temporary and permanent injunctive relief is authorized 

by Section 17.47 of the DTPA. TBx. Bus. &: COM. CODa CODa § 17.47(a). Section 17.47(a) of the 

DTPA authorizes the State to seek injunctive relief, including a temporary restraining order, 

whenever the State has reason to believe that the Defendant is, has, or will engage in unlawful acts 

or practices in violation of the DTPA. 

19.2 Pursuant to § 17.47 of the DTPA, the State requests that the Court grant a temporary 

injunction, and pennanent injunction, enjoining Defendant, her officers, agents, servants, and 

employees from violating Texas law by attempting to solicit and provide immi gration services to any 

more consumers, as well as enjoining the Defendant from future operation of her notary public and 

immigration services business without being qualified as an attorney duly licensed to practice law 

in Texas or by being accredited as an Immigration Services provider by the U.S. Board of 

Immigration Appeals.5 The State of Texas has reason to believe that the Defendant is, has, or will 

engage in unlawful acts or practices in violation of the DTPA. Exhibit A, attached hereto and 

incorporated herein, is an affidavit in support of this request for injunctive relief. 

19.3 It is essential that the Court enjoin Defendant from continuing with the conduct 

described in this petition, namely the unauthorized practice oflaw. It is essential because Defendant 

will continue to engage in the unauthorized practice oflaw and thereby cause injury,loss, or damage 

to persons who receive her services. Namely, the provision of legal services and/or advice by 

6 See rootllot~ 1 above. 
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Defendant. a non-attorney, will have dire lepl consequences and prejudice the legal rights ofpcrsons 

seekins benefits lUldcr U.S. immigration laws. Specifically, Defendant will continue to solicit 

customers each day and will continue to give legal services and/or advice to her customers when she 

is not licensed to practice law in the State of Texas or accredited by the Board of Immigration 

Appeals to represent individuals in immigration matters or in proceedings before the immigration 

courts. Defendant's customers will lose immigration benefits to which they arc otherwise entitled 

and subject them to apprehension. detention or immediate deportation, or expose them to criminal 

liability as a result of her unqualified legal services andlor advice in immigration matters. 

19.4 The State requests that the Clerk of the Court issue such Writs of Injunction andlor 

Writs of Restraint pursuant to any Temporary or Permanent InjlUlction issued by this Court in 

conformity with the law, and that same be issued and be effective without the execution and filing 

ofa bond as Plaintiff, the State of Texas, is exempt from such bonds under TBx. Bus. &. COM. CODB 

ANN. § 17.47{b). 

xx. PRAYER 

20.1 WHEREFORE PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiff, the State of Texas, respectfully 

prays and requests that Defendant, CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, Individually, and d/b/a 

CLARA' S MULTI SER YICIDS, be cited according to law to appear and answer herein; that a 

Temporary Injunction be issued; that this matter be set for trial; and upon final hearing that a 

Permanent Injunction be issued, restraining and enjoining Defendant, her successors, assigns, 

officers, agents, servants, employees, and representatives from making representations, doing the 

acts, and engaging in the unlawful practices set out in the preceding paragraphs as well as from 

making the following representations and doing the following acts and engaging in the following 
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practices and conduct of trade or commerce within the State of Texas as follows: 

A. Transferring, concealing, withholding, destroying, mutilating, altering, falsifying or 
removing from the jurisdiction of this Court any booka, records, documents, invoices. 
receipts or other written materials relating to Defendant's business, during the pendency of 
this suit, which currently or hereafter are in Defendant's possession, custody, or control 
except in response to further orden or subpoenas in this cause; 

B. Operating a business or conducting business that provides immigration services or 
a legal document preparation service until Defendant is able to fully comply with applicable 
law by becoming a licensed attorney. a properly supervised law student, or by becoming 
accredited by the U.S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

C. Advertising, offering for sale, selling, or providing an immigration service or a legal 
document preparation service until Defendant is able to fully comply with applicable law by 
becoming a licensed attorney, a properly supervised law student, or by becoming accredited 
by the U.S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

D. Accepting money or valuable consideration for performing an immigration service 
or a legal document preparation service until Defendant is able to fully comply with 
applicable law by becoming a licensed attorney. a properly supervised law student. or by 
becoming accredited by the U.S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

E. Accepting money or valuable consideration from any person seeking assistance to 
obtain a benefit under United States immigration laws for himselflherself or any other person 
until Defendant is able to fully comply with applicable law by becoming a licensed attorney, 
a properly supervised law student, or by becoming accredited by the U.S. Board of 
Immigration Appeals; 

F. Advising or counseling any person whether or not to file a petition, application. or 
other fonn to obtain a benefit under United States immigration laws for himselflherself or 
any other person until Defendant is able to fully comply with applicable law by becoming 
a licensed attorney, a properly supervised law student, or by becoming accredited by the U.S. 
Board of Immigration Appeals; 

G. Selecting. preparing, or completing for any other person a pleading, document. or 
other form incident to legal actions or United States immigration proceedings until 
Defendant is able to fully comply with applicable law by becoming a licensed attorney. a 
properly supervised law student. or by becoming accredited by the U.S. Board of 
Immigration Appeals; 

H. Holding themselves out, by any means, to the public as an "immigration specialist," 
"immigration counselor," or "immigration service provider" and by any title or designation 
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incorporating the word "immigration" or an abbreviation thcrcofuntil Defendant is able to 
fully comply with applicable law by becoming a licensed attorney, a properly supervised law 
student, or by becoming accredited by the U.S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

I. Stating or implying that Defendant is an attorney licensed to practice law in this state 
unless Defendant is a member of the State Bar of Texas; 

J. Representing, directly or by implication, that Defendant has the skill, expertise, or 
competence to handle immigration or legal matters until Defendant is able to fully comply 
with applicable law by becoming a licensed attorney, a properly supervised law student, or 
by becoming accredited by the U.S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

K. Representing, directly or by implication, that Defendant can obtain legal status, a 
work permit, or other benefit under United States immigration laws for a person who 
purchases her services until Defendant is able to fully comply with applicable law by 
becoming a licensed attorney, a properly supervised law student, or by becoming accredited 
by the U.S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

L. Practicing law in the State of Texas while not being a member of the State Bar of 
Texas; 

M. Advising or counseling any person as to matters of law or legal rights under state or 
federal laws, rules, andlor regulations, including but not limited to, matters relating to legal 
actions or United States immigration proceedings until Defendant is able to fully comply 
with applicable law by becoming a licensed attorney, a properly supervised law student, or 
by becoming accredited by the U .S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

N. Accepting or soliciting money or valuable consideration for advising or counseling 
any person as to matters of law or legal rights under state or federal laws, rules, and/or 
regulations, including but not limited to, matters relating to legal actions or United States 
immigration proc~edings until Defendant is able to fully comply with applicable law by 
becoming a licensed attorney, a properly supervised law student, or by becoming accredited 
by the U .S. Board of Immigration Appeals; 

O. Advertising the services of a notary public in a language other than English, whether 
by signs, pamphlets, stationery, or other written communication or by radio or television, 
without posting or otherwise including with the advertisement a notice which must include 
the fees that a notary public may charge and the following statement in English and in the 
language of the advertisement and in letters of a conspicuous size: 

"1 AM NOT AN A TIORNEY LICENSED TO PRACTICE LAW IN TEXAS 
AND MAY NOT GNE LEGALADVlCE OR ACCEPT FEES FOR LEGAL 
ADVICE."; 
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P. Accepting money or valuable consideration for performing a notarial service wbile 
advertising the services of a notary public in a language other than English without 
complying with the disclosure requirements of "0" above; 

Q. Representing. direc:tlyor by implication. that this Court. the Bureau of Citizenship 
& hnmigration Services (also known as the Immigration and Naturalization Service), or the 
Office of the Attorney General bas approved any good or service sold or offered for sale by 
Defendant, or approved of any of Defendant's business practices. 

20.2. The State further prays that.this Court order Defendant to post notice at 1103 S. 

Grand Street, Amarillo, Potter County, Texas 79104, and at any other place where Defendant may 

conduct business, during the pendency of this suit, which notice shall be on the front-side of the front 

door, in bold-faced type ofa minimum size of 16 points, in both English and Spanish, and shall state: 

NOTICE 

CLARAlSELAHERNANDEZ,INDlVIDUALLY, ANDDIB/ACLARA'S MULTI 
SERVICIO~, HAS BEEN SUED BY THE OFFICE OF THE TEXAS A TIORNEY 
GENERAL FOR ENGAGING IN THE UNAUTHORIZED PRACTICE OF 
IMMIGRATION LAW. 

THE DISTRICT COURT HAS ORDERED CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, 
INDIVIDUALLY, AND D/B/A CLARA'S MULTI SERVICIOS, TO STOP 
CONDUCTING BUSINESS AS AN IMMlGRA TION SERVICE PROVIDER. 

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS, OR [F' YOU BELrEVE YOU WERE A 
VICTIM, PLEASE CALL 214-969-5310. 

ADVISO 

CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, INDIVIDUALLY, AND D/B/A CLARA'S MULTI 
SERVICIOS, HA SIDO DEMANDADA POR LA OFICINA DEL PROCURADOR 
GENERAL DE TEXAS POR ENVOLUCRARSE EN LA PRACTICA DE LEYES 
DE INMlGRACION SIN AUTORIZACION. 

LA CORTE DEL DISTRICTO HA ORDENADO A CLARA ISELA HERNANDEZ, 
INDIVIDUALLY, AND D/B/A CLARA'S MULTI SERVICIOS, DE PARAR SU 
NEGOCIO DE SERVICIOS DE INMIGRACION. 
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Sl USTED TIENE ALGUNA PREGUNTA 0 PlENSA QUE ruE UNA VlCTIMA, 
POR FAVOR LLAMB AL 214-969-5310. 

20.3 The State respectfully further prays and requests that the Court award judgment 

against the Defendant, CLARA lSELA HERNANDFZ, Individually, and dlb/aCLARA'S MULTI 

SERVICIOS, as follows: 

A. That Defendant be adjudged and ordered to pay to the State civil penalties of up to 
$20,000.00 for each and every violation of the DTPA, pursuant to sections 17.08 and 
17.47(c)(I) of the Texas Business and Commerce Code; 

B. That Defendant be adjudged and ordered to pay to the State civil penalties in the 
amount of not more than $250,000.00 for violations of the DTPA if the consumer 
was 65 years of age or older pursuant to section 17.47(c)(2) of the Texas Business 
and Commerce Code; 

C. That Defendant be adjudged and ordered to pay the State attorney's fees and costs of 
Court as provided by the laws of the State of Texas, including but not limited to, 
TBX.GOV. CODBANN. § 402.006(c); 

D. That Defendant be adjudged and ordered to pay IUld restore all money or other 
property taken from identifiable persons by means of unlawful acts or practices, or 
in the alternative, award judgment for damages to compensate for such losses; 

E. That Defendant be adjudged and ordered to pay pre-judgment interest on all awards 
of restitution, damages, and civil penalties as provided by law; 

20.4 The State further prays that upon hearing that Defendant's assets be repatriated into 

the jurisdiction of this Court, that Defendant's assets be subject to disgorgement, and that an 

equitable lien be placed upon Defendant's property for the benefit of consumer victims; 

20.5 The State further prays that upon hearing that this Court rescind all agreements 

entered into by and between Defendant and consumers; 

20.6 The State further prays that upon bearing that this Court adjudge that all fmes, 

penalties or forfeitures payable to and for the benefit of the State are not dischargeable under 
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bankruptcy pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(7). 

20.7 The State further prays for the appointment of a Temporary and Permanent Receiver, 

as may become necessary, to locate, conserve and manage Defendant's assets so as to minimize harm 

to consumen who contracted with Defendant, and as may be necessary to comply with and obey any. 

Orders and Judgments issued by the Court. 

20.8 The State prays that all relief be denied Defendant and that the State receive such 

other and further relief to which it is justly entitled. 

Respectfully submitted, 

GREG ABBOTT 
Attorney General of Texas 

DANIEL T. HODGE 
Fint Assistant Attorney General 

DAVID MORALES 
Deputy First Assistant Attorney General 

BaLC. COBB 
Deputy Attorney General for Civil Litigation 

PAUL D. CARMONA, Chief 
Consumer Protection & blic Health Division 

Assistant Attorney General 
Conswner Protection & Public Health Division 
Office oftbe Attorney General 
1412 Main St., Ste. 810 
Dallas, Texas 75202 
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ATTACHED EXHIBIT: 

EXHIBIT A - Verification of Investigator. 

T:(214) 969-7639 F:(214) 969-7615 

ATTORNEYSFORP~ 
THE STA TB OF TEXAS 
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EXHIBIT A 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF DALLAS 

VERD'ICA TlON 

I 
I 
I 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared the below named 
affiant, who, after being duly sworn, stated under oath that (s)he is competent and authorized to 
make this verification on behalf of the State of Texas, Plaintiff in this action; that (s)he is an 
Investigator for the Attorney General of the State of Texas; that (s)he has read the forgoing pleading; 
that (s)he has reason to believe and is of the opinion that every statement of factual allegations 
concerning the violations oflaw by Defendant contained in the pleading is credibly and reliably true 
and correct, are matters observed pursuant to a legal duty to report, are factual findings resulting 
from an investigation made pursuant to authority granted by law, or are matters of records, reports, 
statements, or data compilations of public offices or agencies setting forth the activities of the office 
or agency; that Defendant operated a notary public and immigration service provider business in 
Potter County; is neither a licensed attorney, properly supervised law student, nor is accredited by 
the U.S. Board of Immigration Appeals entitled to practice immigration law nor is authorized to 
provide accredited immigration services to consumers; and further that the consumer protection 
division has reason to believe that laws of the State of Texas have been, are being andlor will 
continue to be violated unless the Defendant is enjoined from continuing such violative acts and 
practices and further that such injunctive relief is necessary because immediate harm and injury are 
presumed if a law is being violated. 

Affiant 

1rd 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me, on the ~ day of _ ~da bev- .20_'_\_. to 

certify which witness my hand and official seal. r---__ ... _. _____ _ 

e ~rHA LOU WlLUAMI 
~ NetI'Y 1Iu~1II 
• .lllf(", ITATE OF 'TEXAI 

C-..... E.,. ..... .a1. 
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